ima®

The Association of Accountants and Financial Professionals in Business



The Behavioral Aspects of Cost Management

Statement on Management Accounting

About IMA®

IMA, the association of accountants and financial professionals in business, is one of the largest and most respected associations focused exclusively on advancing the management accounting profession. Globally, IMA supports the profession through research, the CMA® (Certified Management Accountant) program, continuing education, networking, and advocacy of the highest ethical business practices. IMA has a global network of more than 80,000 members in 140 countries and 300 professional and student chapters. Headquartered in Montvale, N.J., USA, IMA provides localized services through its four global regions: The Americas, Asia/Pacific, Europe, and Middle East/Africa. For more information about IMA, please visit **www.imanet.org.**



About the Author

Nick Shepherd FCPA, FCGA, FCCA, FCMC,

is President of EduVision Inc., which has been providing consulting and professional development services to clients for more than 25 years. He is a well known speaker and facilitator. Nick's focus includes organziational leadership, vision, values, planning, and strategy. He has worked in North America, U.K., Caribbean, Central Asia, and South Africa.

The Behavioral Aspects of Cost Management

Table of Contents

Executive Summary	4
A Brief History of Cost Management	5
Scope of the SMA	7
An Effective Framework for Cost Management	7
The Goal of Effective Cost Management and Control	8
The Changing Focus for Cost Management	9
The 5C's Framework for Effective Cost Management	. 15
The Strategic Approach to a Cost-Effective Culture	. 15
Aligning Cost Management with Culture	. 17
The Core: Creating a Foundational Culture	. 18
Caring about Cost and Building on the Culture	. 20
Communication: A Critical Role in Cost Management	.24
Collaboration: Manage and Reduce Costs Together	. 27
Continuity: Ensuring Cost Management Is a Way of Life	. 30
Conclusion	. 32
Appendix: A Step-by-Step Approach to Implementing Cost Management	. 34
Glossary	. 36
Endnotes	. 38
Additional References	.41
Further Reading	.41
General Publications	. 41
Cost Reduction Ideas and Strategies	. 42
Useful Websites	. 43

Executive Summary

Minimizing cost is a core aspect of organizational success. Management accountants are expected to play a central role in ensuring that all aspects of cost are effectively planned, controlled, and continually assessed for reduction. While effective planning and control systems must be developed and implemented, positive cost reduction results will be achieved only when there is a commitment on the part of all key stakeholders to take responsibility for cost management. Some organizations seem able to achieve this and remain competitive while others struggle.

This Statement on Management Accounting (SMA) focuses on the importance of organizational culture in developing a climate for effective cost management and builds on existing research on the importance of culture in effective financial control. Ultimately, costs are controlled by line managers and individuals who make effective day-to-day decisions that drive cost. To deliver on effective cost reduction, there must be the behavioral commitment as well as provision for and understanding of the necessary cost information. This SMA presents a cost aspects framework (the 5C's framework) that demonstrates the five core approaches of culture, care, communication, collaboration, and continuation that are required to support effective cost reduction.

Effective cost control is not achieved by short-term program approaches but by making frugality and cost containment a value that is integrated into the culture of the organization. This must start at the top and be reinforced by the behavior of every manager who demonstrates and encourages cost containment. Accounting plays a key role in providing cost information and aligning it to decision making. If the communication of this link is not effective, then understanding and cost control will fail. Many costs are process driven and expand beyond organizational silos, thus requiring collaboration between people internally and externally. Finally, the focus on cost containment and minimization must be constant and not become an imperative only when margins are tight. There is emerging behavioral research that indicates that the context within which a decision is made, such as those relative to cost, impacts the results; thus creating the right culture for management of cost is important.

While new systems, such as activity-based costing (ABC) and analytics, are required to collect and present information, a supporting culture is required to convert this type of cost data from insights into actions that improve cost performance. This SMA complements discussions on designing cost systems, cost maturity models, and approaches to costing such as ABC and target costing.¹ It describes the critical approaches to organizational behavior that make these systems deliver real benefits and, in particular, complements the SMA, *Values and Ethics: From Inception to Practices*, on integrating values and ethics into organizational culture.²



A Brief History of Cost Management

Since the early days of management accounting, finance professionals have been seeking approaches to cost collection and reporting that add value to organizational decision making. The profession has been continually creating effective cost management solutions to mirror an organization's operational reality. Standard costing was conceived in the late 1800s and early 1900s, involving the work of George P. Harrison, G. Charter Harrison, and Alexander Hamilton Church, among others. It rose to prominence to reflect advances in industrial engineering when leading organizations, in particular General Motors under Alfred Sloan, adopted Frederick Winslow Taylor's approaches to scientific management, creating the foundation for the standard costing model.

Between the 1920s and 1970s, many organizations, particularly in mass-production manufacturing, adopted standard costing together with cost variance analysis to understand the differences between planned cost and actual cost. This formed the basis for decision making to keep cost performance in line and to identify and resolve problems. Yet in 1987, as pointed out in *Relevance Lost*, it was becoming clear that the usefulness of traditional approaches was declining and new approaches were needed.³

By the late 1970s and early 1980s, three key changes were taking place. First, global trade in mass-produced items—from electronics to cars—was becoming increasingly competitive, requiring a greater focus on understanding costs as well as quality and process management. Second, as manufacturers strove to respond to operational and cost challenges, automation increasingly replaced direct labor, thus decreasing traditional direct costs but often increasing indirect costs. Finally, as the manufacturing sector matured—especially in advanced economies—the service sector in areas such as financial services was growing, requiring more focus on indirect costs.

These changes led to myriad new approaches to operational and cost management from the 1990s until today, such as activity-based costing (ABC) and activity-based management (ABM) combined with an operational focus on process management, Six Sigma, lean accounting, Resource Consumption Accounting (RCA), Value-Based Management (VBM), throughput accounting, and others.

Organizations such as the Consortium of Advanced Management International (CAM-I), founded by the Department of Commerce in 1972, researched new approaches to operational management to respond to increasing competitive pressure (they also carried out initial work in areas such as budgeting and planning when they created the original Beyond Budgeting Round Table). During the same period, the International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) focused its research on the leading thought in the accounting profession in order to incorporate it into enhanced approaches to financial reporting and control, including costing.

In more recent years, as competitiveness increased and the role of management accountants became more important in supporting operational decision making, IFAC expanded its work through the



Professional Accountants in Business Committee (PAIB). This committee published two foundational pieces that underpin the journey of developing effective costing for decision making in the late 2000s.⁴ IMA® (Institute of Management Accountants) and many other leading organizations in financial management were also active during this period in developing, researching, and publishing articles, papers, and other communications to demonstrate the value in new approaches to cost management.

As these new approaches to organizing, collecting, validating, analyzing, and reporting cost information were being applied, there was a constant discussion of why they worked effectively in some organizations yet failed to deliver the expected benefits in others. Management professionals started to research successful organizations, and gradually models in business excellence appeared in the United States and other countries around the world that helped identify the components of successful management.⁵ Further research into these models reveals that, while each is unique, they all share common elements that include effectiveness in the following aspects:⁶

- Leadership;
- Planning;
- Client/market (customer, citizen) focus;
- Employee engagement;
- Partner (suppliers and other third parties) engagement;
- Process design, development, and execution; and
- Broad-based performance management and reporting systems.

In addition, most have a built-in requirement for a feedback loop designed to enable continual improvement in all aspects of planning and operational activity.

These models, together with research on the global best practices of organizations, began to reveal that success comes from a combination of effective approaches to the work that is done *combined with the creation of an effective culture* within which this operates—examples include Marriott, Toyota, Johnson & Johnson, and Proctor and Gamble.⁷

Task-oriented and relationship-oriented leadership have been understood since the 1940s. While tasks traditionally have been the focus, a growing body of research suggests that relationships are equally critical.⁸ In particular, research into the success of The Toyota Way strongly supported these approaches.⁹ Emerging research in the area of behavioral economics and how context impacts decision making is also relevant to discussions on effective approaches to cost management.¹⁰

Effective financial management and cost effectiveness need to reflect these transitions. New approaches, tools, and systems are required that reflect the changing nature of cost behavior, but these must be implemented with a culture that supports, encourages, and rewards stakeholder engagement in using the information. This can only occur in an organizational culture that balances task and relationship.



STRATEGIC COST MANAGEMENT

> The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA) has published extensive research that demonstrates the importance of corporate culture in effective financial management. One report, Culture and Channelling Corporate Behaviour, notes, "Functional behaviour contributes to the creation of long-term, sustainable value for the organisation, and the majority of its stakeholders."¹¹ (Note: ACCA and IMA maintain a partnership developing leading-edge research on the future of the profession).

Scope of the SMA

This SMA provides a framework for cost control and reduction centered on organizational culture and individual behavior. The framework outlines how to incorporate the desired behaviors into the strategic foundation and values of an organization, and it is supported by five core components required to provide the required communication and understanding of cost information necessary to drive effective decision making.

This SMA does not discuss individual costing systems and approaches in detail, as there are many existing SMAs that provide a solid background in new tools, techniques, and systems for cost management.¹² In addition, the Values and Ethics: From Inception to Practices SMA contains information on building the culture required to underpin an effective framework for behaviors to drive cost management and reduction.¹³

An Effective Framework for Cost Management

Senior financial leaders and others members of the C-suite must respond to the need for cost reduction, and in many cases the senior financial manager (the CFO or equivalent) leads the charge. But typically the CFO doesn't actually manage organizational costs. This is controlled by the actions and approaches of line managers and the people who work for them within an organization.

Thus, the CFO's success in implementing cost reduction can only come through influencing the action of others. While cost reduction programs may bring short-term relief from excess costs, they are not enough to sustain an organization's need to constantly focus in this area—in fact, at worst they become a constant "knee-jerk" reaction to gradually escalating costs or marketplace changes. Published articles and research have demonstrated that successful organizations have a number of aspects of effective cost management:14

- They are built within a culture where control and improvement of cost is an embedded part of the organizational DNA;
- They inspire and support caring about cost by encouraging ideas for improvement, sharing the benefits, and having an aversion to waste;
- They communicate cost information effectively by having appropriate costing tools and systems to track, monitor, and report costs;15



- They *encourage collaboration* through process thinking and cross-silo communication and cooperation; and
- They provide a *continual focus on cost improvement* that includes life-cycle thinking, continuous improvement, and avoidance of cost reduction as a program.

These five aspects form the foundation of the 5C's framework for effective cost management.

THE GOAL OF EFFECTIVE COST MANAGEMENT AND CONTROL

The overall goal for cost management is competitive survival. Governments managing costs effectively can allocate scarce resources to the most pressing needs and keep tax rates low for their jurisdiction, thus contributing to national competitiveness. Not-for-profit organizations can apply their limited resources to providing a broader range of services together with greater reach, quality, and sustainability. In the for-profit sector, cost control is central to ensuring adequate levels of profitability while offering competitive features and pricing on products and services. This has to be achieved within the realities of the competitive supply chain and marketplace costs of resources—labor costs, benefit costs, supplier costs, and other costs.

Models of economic theory suggest that the price for new products in a free marketplace can be set by the seller. But as competition enters the market and supply increases, prices are eventually driven down; unless costs are reduced, this results in declining margins and profits. The BCG (Boston Consulting Group) Portfolio Planning Model demonstrates this life-cycle approach.¹⁶

For organizations to remain competitive, this cycle of innovation—including product enhancement and new product release—is typically perpetual. Therefore, it follows that cost control and reduction must be a constant focus rather than project-based initiative. Figure 1 illustrates this by overlaying the traditional



growth and decline revenue maturity model with a depiction of profit margin behavior during the same cycle.

Traditionally, this model applied to the direct costs of a product. Improved understanding of cost behavior, however, has demonstrated that a product's indirect costs are increasing relative to its direct costs as differentiation and variation of products expand (for example, more colors, sizes, and ranges). This causes higher product-related indirect costs incurred from the increased complexity to support processes that deliver outcomes. Nonproduct costs in distribution, selling, marketing, customer service, and accounting also need to be calculated to report and analyze both channel and customer profitability below the product gross profit margin line.¹⁷ Examples include the need to reduce the costs per accounts payable invoice paid, the costs per sales call, and the sales cost per dollar of revenue. Thus, a constant understanding and reduction of the cost of production and services of every aspect of an organization's activity is equally important to sustain a competitive advantage.

While many organizations seek to achieve these reductions by outsourcing the complete function, this merely moves the burden of cost reduction to a third party rather than retaining it within the organization. Supplier cost reductions therefore also become critical to continual competitive advantage.

THE CHANGING FOCUS FOR COST MANAGEMENT

While the goals of reducing cost have remained constant, the areas of focus for achieving this have shifted. In manufacturing organizations, direct materials and direct labor have been well understood for a long time. Continual effort to drive down labor costs through automation, simplification, the elimination of tasks, and other process improvements has delivered considerable benefits. When the only opportunity left to reduce labor cost is the hourly rate, the solution has become outsourcing to lower-cost environments, which could be offshoring or, in the U.S., right-to-work states without unions. Traditional approaches to reduce incoming materials costs have included competitive bidding between suppliers and changing suppliers when lower-cost opportunities arise. Again, in many cases, this has involved buying offshore at lower costs, reducing unit costs, and adding some level of transportation.

Indirect costs in many organizations have typically been controlled by responsibility centers—attributing costs to cost centers controlled by managers and tracking costs by expense type. Reductions were typically achieved by a constant focus on headcount reductions and the stringent control of expenses.

As direct costs are driven down and/or outsourced, a larger portion of costs become the result of supplier negotiations rather than internal control creating a higher level of interdependency between buyer and seller. As direct costs are reduced overall, the indirect costs become a larger portion of the cost base. Efforts to reduce costs through headcount reductions often produce dysfunctional outcomes as individual manager's drive their own costs down but create negative impacts elsewhere within an organization. This impact of silo management has been recognized as causing problems since many internal processes cross organizational boundaries, i.e., silos.¹⁸ Also, operational activity through

processes is highly interdependent, and cost reductions in one area create operational problems and cost pressures for other areas. Finally, in any area of work that touches the client or customer, efforts to reduce across-the-board cuts generally result in declining operational capability, client service, and reputation. This can be seen in marketing, sales, engineering and design, accounting, human resources, information technology, and other areas. It decreases the capability—and thus the intangible (goodwill) value—of an organization.

As the architecture of an organization's activity changes, the approaches to planning, controlling, managing, reporting, and reducing costs must also change.

The Shift to Intangibles

Another major underlying shift has been taking place for more than 30 years.¹⁹ Organizational value has shifted from approximately 80% book value and 20% intangible to the opposite, where 80% of an organization's value is now attributed to value not represented on the balance sheet.

The content of this intangible value typically includes human, structural, and relationship capital. More specifically, it represents the capability of the organization to deliver results through its people; processes; leadership; brand; reputation; relationships with suppliers, customers, distributors, regulators, and others; and employees' capability to innovate.²⁰ Table 1 provides an example, presenting the values in thousands for Apple, Google, and Coca-Cola as of December 2014. It includes their market values, brand values as determined by Interbrand and Brand Finance, and book values. The Other Intangibles column is determined using the lesser of Interbrand's or Brand Finance's estimate, and that result is then used in the Book %, which represents the book value as a percentage of the total market value.

Most of these capabilities are created through the efforts of the people in the organization, their ability to work together effectively across organizational silos and with key third parties, and the relationships that are built to make this possible. This combination of capabilities can be defined as the culture of the organization. The value attributed to these intangible assets can be substantially depleted through cost-cutting approaches across the board that damage the capability of these intangibles and destroy the organizational culture.

	Market Value	Brand	Value 2014	Book Value	Other Intangibles	Book %
Α	В	С	D	E	F	G
		Interbrand	Brand Finance			
Apple	\$643,120	\$98,316	(\$104,686)	\$124,183	\$420,621	19%
Google	\$355,000	(\$93,291)	\$68,620	\$96,000	\$190,380	27%
Coca-Cola	\$184,930	(\$79,213)	\$33,722	\$30,321	\$120,887	16%

While cost cutting and continual improvement are important keys for organizations, the approach must be surgical and targeted to ensure not to deplete the intangible aspects that provide organizational capability and capacity.

Optimizing Organizational Value

STRATEGIC COST

MANAGEMENT

Organizational value is typically determined by looking at the company's balance sheet value as well as its capacity to generate earnings and cash flow and to pay dividends to investors. The role of management is typically to protect and grow this value for the benefit of the shareholders. This is a particularly important role in private companies, where the value of the business may form the basis of the owner's principle assets that would be sold upon retirement.

Traditional earnings reporting shows that managers can achieve cost reduction in the short term, but this often depletes organizational value over time. But that loss of value does not show up until a later date when earnings begin to drop because the intangibles within the organization begin to lose their capability to collaborate and cooperate effectively. By the time this happens, short-term bonuses have often been earned and paid out, and often leaders have moved on to other opportunities, leaving their successors with a legacy of depletion and a need to rebuild capacity. This, in turn, can deplete earnings further as it becomes necessary to invest in intangibles again. The critical challenge for effective managers is to control costs in a way that does not deplete this intangible value.

Nowhere is this issue demonstrated more clearly than in mergers and acquisitions. Various books and analyses have placed the failure rate of mergers and acquisitions between 50% and 80%.²¹ The rationale for conducting a merger or acquisition is often the thinking that the combination of the two companies would bring greater opportunities and higher earnings. In many cases, part of the justification is the potential of lower costs with a merged entity. Many M&A failures can be tracked back to the loss of value created by the efforts to integrate two organizations, especially in the area of combining operations to reduce costs. Where approaches are not surgical and result in depleting value, the ultimate impact is an impairment or even elimination of goodwill and a write-off against earnings.

To optimize organizational value is to view an organization as a "system" where it is the interaction of the sum of the parts that creates capacity and capability to drive value. If approaches to cost cutting are not holistic and do not recognize the interdependencies of the individual parts of the system, the overall value will be depleted.

Operational Capability, Intangibles, and Cost Control

The past 30 years have seen the development of core aspects of operational capability that are essential to value creation. Organizations can be simplistically represented as entities that have inputs, processing capabilities, and outputs. Suppliers and supply chains focus on inputs. Process management and asset utilization are the focus of processing capability, and outputs are those results that deliver outcomes.

In the private sector, the goal is to provide products and services that satisfy clients, and, in the public sector, the goal is to meet the needs of the citizens. All these aspects drive the capability and capacity of the organization to operate, but they also drive costs.

Approaches to inputs through purchasing and supplier relationships have changed significantly. Value is built through effective supply chain relationships that promote innovation and creativity, thus capitalizing on the contributions from both the buyer and seller—who share in the benefits. Traditional approaches to cost cutting, such as mandated price reductions, can alienate suppliers and erode the value created in an effective interdependent supply chain.

Furthermore, it has long been estimated that, after eliminating purchased costs, 75% to 90% of the remaining organizational cost is created through the execution of processes. (This is the foundation for the need for ABM and ABC.) As stated earlier, the processes associated with direct costs that drive labor are well understood, but they are becoming a smaller portion of overall cost. The impact of indirect-cost processes is often less understood yet constitutes a growing portion of overall cost. These processes underpin and enable the capability of the direct-cost areas to execute their work effectively. Examples are the purchasing processes, hiring processes, engineering and technical support, and areas such as order desks and call centers.

Since most of these processes cross organizational boundaries (or silos) during execution, they require a high degree of interaction. If processes are interlinked from end to end while costs are managed by silo, then across-the-board cost cutting such as headcount reductions runs a high risk of disrupting the operational effectiveness of parts of the process. At worst, they serve to build the walls around each silo as managers protect their own resources. Communication, collaboration, and cooperation are reduced, resulting in less effective processes on a cost-per-transaction basis along with slower execution and less innovation. In short, traditional approaches to cost reduction can rapidly deplete organizational capability and value.

Another aspect that drives intangible value for organizations in today's global competition is how they build a customer-focused capacity. This entails marketplace knowledge, engaged clients, responsiveness to problems and issues, continued price competitiveness, high quality, and breadth of availability and delivery channels. While the customer list may have some level of intangible value, the value created through the interactions between the seller and the buyer has even more value as an organizational asset. As the seller and the buyer continue to interact, their shared knowledge about areas such as the cost of changing suppliers will grow. Traditional approaches to cost cutting can often damage these relationships, which have taken time to develop.

Next, as intellectual capital and knowledge management create and sustain value, they are becoming more important, impacting people management in all environments. Motivated employees typically demonstrate a higher level of collaboration, communication, and cooperation as well as a greater



commitment to their work and the goals of the organization. People are core drivers in the creation of most intangible value. They develop and improve processes. They innovate. They work together to create a responsive entity. They are willing to implement change as they feel less threatened by job loss and often accept the risk of reassignment and training opportunities. As speed and innovation have become greater core competitive advantages, the need for engaged and motivated employees is increasingly critical. This is a foundational issue that can only be addressed by sustaining a culture that recognizes the impact that change has on people and that provides approaches and structures to fully engage and involve employees through periods of change. The great impact this issue has on the training of managers in leadership skills cannot be understated.

Approaches to cost cutting that exclude the engagement and involvement of employees can have a major impact on the levels of motivation. People do not react well to having things done to them. They are typically more willing to address the challenges and issues when they trust managers and are engaged in the discussions about the change. Thus, top-down, across-the-board cost cutting creates significant negative impact on both organizational value as well as its ongoing capacity to remain competitive.

Finally, surviving manufacturing organizations are often highly automated. Processes are interlinked directly to suppliers and inputs using and applying systems such as Just-in-Time (JIT) delivery sequenced direct to the line, continual processes through all stages of production, flexibility in applying variable production (flex manufacturing), and integration with shipping organizations and intermediate or ultimate clients. This automation has brought about the need to look upon the organization as a system where all parts must function or the whole system shuts down.

It has again become necessary for a high level of cooperation and interdependency to exist between the human parts of the system in order to optimize return on investment. Silo management and turf protection to protect the budget will be highly detrimental in this reality. Cost cutting must again be carried out surgically, recognizing the interdependence of the parts. While some areas may have the opportunity for major reductions, others may require sustained or even increased funding to optimize the system. Much of this thinking was at the heart of the capacity management and optimization work of Eli Goldratt, who promoted the opportunity available to organizations that focus on the system aspect of maximizing performance.²² It is also a core component of successful organizations (like Toyota) that focus on the overall performance of the entity and recognize high levels of interdependency between the parts.

Relationships and Cost Control

For many organizations, especially those in services such as banking, insurance, and others, total labor costs continue to present the highest single number in their operating expenses, and there is a constant focus on opportunities to reduce these costs because they can provide the biggest impact to an improved bottom line.

An organization's culture creates the foundations of how relationships are built. Many successful organizations, such as Johnson & Johnson, have developed stated values that guide the behavior through which relationships are developed.²³ Typically, the foundations of effective relationships are trust, mutual respect, awareness, diversity, and communications.²⁴ These values are not built rapidly. They evolve over time.

Competitive advantage, and thus organizational value, comes from relationships in many areas, such as those between:

- shareholders, the board of directors, and management;
- leaders, managers, and other employees;
- employees in different areas, departments, countries, regions, and divisions;
- suppliers and the organization;
- distributors and sellers;
- customers, clients, and organizational staff, including sales, service, administration, design, and others; and
- other stakeholders, such as the community in which the business operates, local governments, and regulators.

Cost-cutting approaches can damage relationships—externally, internally, and with the customer. Examples of short-term efforts to reduce supplier costs include threatening suppliers or changing suppliers (a strategy that was prevalent in organizations such as GM in the past), making changes without communications, or not honoring contracts (for example, not abiding by negotiated payment terms). Internal relationships can be damaged by cutting back on the orientation and training of leaders, not treating employees fairly, failing to communicate changes that will impact employees, and not having recognition and reward systems that share savings with employees. Client relationships can be significantly impacted by approaches in cost savings such as slowing down credits and returns, cutting back on call center capability and responsiveness, reductions in service staff availability, changes in the value proposition through unilateral changes to terms of supply or service to save money, and many others.

None of these points should be construed as making a case for not reducing cost. The task remains the same—to reduce cost. But the ways in which people interact in business relationships have the greatest impact on organizational capacity and value.

Organizations and Strategic Sustainability

Shareholders need to understand both current performance and the risk involved to ensure they are investing wisely for the future. In a public organization's annual report, the management discussion and analysis (MD&A), or the management letter, provides an overview of the organization's past performance and identifies key aspects of its ability to operate in the future. Auditors are also required to perform a

going-concern verification to assess the ongoing viability of the organization. Both these requirements address the organization's financial ability to remain a going concern into the future.

For organizations with high levels of intangible assets, it is more difficult to assess the capacity to operate in the future. While the discussion of reporting and performance indicators to provide this visibility are outside the scope of this SMA, financial managers need to be aware of the impact of the drivers of sustainability, particularly from intangibles. Financial managers also need to have ways of assessing whether the capacity of these drivers is being depleted, sustained, or enhanced by management actions, particularly when implementing approaches to cost management.

Taking action to reduce costs in ways that are not targeted can damage the capacity of intangible assets to operate effectively. This can diminish and possibly destroy the organization's competitive advantage and future sustainability. Reliance on traditional financial reporting will only reveal the problems by looking at past history. But by the time revenues and margins decline, it is too late.

The 5C's Framework for Effective Cost Management

Financial managers need to adopt a holistic approach to cost control and reduction. This requires equal attention to the tools, methods, and techniques being selected (as suggested in the IMA's SMA, *The Conceptual Framework for Managerial Costing*), as well as certainty that the culture supports a focus on cost.²⁵

Figure 2 shows the 5C's framework for a holistic approach to cost reduction: culture, care, communication, collaboration, and continuation. The central foundation is the organizational culture, supported by the other four C's. Although finance executives do not control the culture alone, they do sit at the senior management table and work with their peers to influence decision making.²⁶ It is in this role that they must establish a broad understanding about the effectiveness of cost control as an organizational issue.

Finance executive can create systems, implement controls, provide information, and offer guidance and advice, but ultimately the role of cost control permeates every activity within the organization. For this reason, effective cost control must reflect this and be embedded into the culture or DNA of the organization.²⁷ Finance executives have direct responsibilities in key areas of this framework and a critical need to influence the others. We move now to discuss each aspect in more detail, starting with ensuring that culture is integrated to strategy.

THE STRATEGIC APPROACH TO A COST-EFFECTIVE CULTURE

At the heart of effective cost control and continual reduction must be a culture that supports and enables the required actions and decision making. This can only be achieved at the strategy level where the



organization's mission (which drives the desired outcomes) and values (which drive the desired behaviors) are both embedded. Many organizations profess to have a set of values, but it is extremely hard for these to become a solid part of culture and behavior.²⁸

Financial managers need to ask two questions to determine whether the required cultural foundation is in place:

- 1. To what degree are organizational values stated, considered, and embedded in the frameworks for business planning?
- 2. How effectively are desired behaviors being deployed in practice through areas such as hiring practices, leadership development, performance reviews, and process and policy alignment?

Employee surveys and other feedback will help determine the level to which stated expectations of behavior, based on values, are being reflected in day-to-day operational decision making.

There are many approaches to business planning frameworks, and each organization will have its own. Figure 3, known as the RP5 Business Planning Model, reflects the core components of the type of organizational planning framework and approach required.²⁹





The foundational culture must create a base for both task (the stated mission and process) and behavior (relevant to building relationships and the foundation for many intangibles and values).

Leadership development and consistency of management action are required for the effective application of the underlying business planning framework. Once the organization has established its strategic planning and direction (the foundation of outcomes and tasks) and its approach to behavior (through organizational values, code of conduct, or the equivalent), the responsibility for implementing and reinforcing it across the organization becomes the responsibility of every manager responsible for people, resources, and all aspects of relationships.

The financial executive's principle responsibility is to ensure that adequate attention is being paid to these aspects and that an effective approach to training and developing staff in leadership positions is in place. In addition, expectations of behavior that underlie all other effective relationships must be applied when working with key partners such as suppliers.

ALIGNING COST MANAGEMENT WITH CULTURE

The financial executive should ensure that each aspect of the planning framework is complemented by an aspect of cost management (see Table 2). Each of these linkages is explained in detail in the following sections, and each links to the core components of the business planning framework used as an example.

Business Planning Framework	Cost Elements	Explanation of Financial Aspects
Purpose	Culture	The foundational approach to planning and running the enterprise—a combination of task (mission) and relationship values that guide behavior
Passion	Caring	Building the culture—engaging the resources required to convert intent to action in a way that reflects care about cost minimization
Process	Communication	Alignment of business process and resource allocation to execution of task and clarity of communication of costs aspects and impacts to decision makers
People	Collaboration	Aligning values with human engagement, often through processes and partnerships, by converting "intent" into action through effective collaboration and coordination
Performance	Continuity	Approaches to sustaining cost improvement as a core strategy through continual improvement and cost "life cycle" thinking

At the center of the cost framework is the underlying culture of the organization. This is closely followed by care—caring about costs builds the underlying commitment to make effective cost control a permanent area of focus within the culture. Next, the communication aspect focuses on the provision of information about cost behavior and results. Then the collaboration aspect is in place because a great deal of cost behavior spans departments or silos—and effective cost behavior management requires proper interaction among them. Finally, the continuity aspect is needed to avoid the on-again, off-again approach to cost. To some degree, this aspect borrows from the thinking of the W. Edwards Deming, whose 14 points for sustainable quality management addressed the need for a permanent, nonprogrammatic approach to quality management in order to make it a way of life.³⁰

THE CORE: CREATING A FOUNDATIONAL CULTURE

Creating a culture that includes and embeds cost management is a primary goal, but it is the foundational direction and values under which the organization operates that can make it happen. Table 3 illustrates the types of high-level foundational approaches upon which effective cost management can be built.

Financial executives have a number of responsibilities for communicating the concepts of value and for ensuring that culture is more than just words. First, they must play a key role in getting shareholders and owners to understand the impact that intangibles have on organizational value and continuity. This complements the strategic inclusion of behavioral aspects in the business planning framework.

Without this understanding, there will be no recognition of the risks associated with cost cutting methods that can negatively impact organizational value as well as deplete the intangibles that underpin the value and sustain the organization's capacity to operate. Given that these represent on average 80% of corporate value, this *must* be a foundational concern and understanding for those who set overall

Aspect	Finance's Responsibility	Finance's Influence
suring concept of value and intangibles is understood	\checkmark	\checkmark
Communicating with and ensuring that owners/shareholders understand risk related of ntangibles and impact on sustainability		\checkmark
insuring a clear, sustained statement of mission and values		\checkmark
insuring that goals and KPIs include task (outcomes) and relationship (behaviors)	\checkmark	\checkmark
Ensuring alignment of policies and procedures with stated values	\checkmark	\checkmark
Ensuring investment in leadership development of all managers	\checkmark	\checkmark
Avoiding short-term financial guidance	\checkmark	\checkmark

organizational direction and goals. Profit and performance goals and objectives must be developed in an atmosphere that takes this into account. Finance has a core role in understanding and communicating this issue.

Second, finance must help and even champion strategic approaches to the redeployment of resources. Investment continuity is not about guarantees for the future—this is unrealistic. Rather it is about commitment to the continuity of the organization. This is important because it creates the base for continual redeployment of resources. This approach must involve seeking growth opportunities in the existing business as well as new ventures rather than one of scarcity that minimizes reinvestment. After all, no business can shrink to greatness, and if all savings result in employees being terminated, there will be little motivation to seek opportunities for improvement.

Third, finance must strive to ensure that strategic commitments to both the mission and the values that drive behavior become an operational reality. Most organizations have vision and mission statements that focus on the outcomes for the owners, shareholders, or others. These must be in place in order to align the resources that will be required to actually create the desired outcomes. Many organizations also have statements of corporate values, but they often are not deployed well and fail to build the desired culture. Organizational planning often focuses principally on outcomes and less on the behavior expected to achieve these outcomes. While this thinking about alignment is not new, it continues to be a challenge for many organizations, especially in the behavioral aspect.³¹

Figure 4 overlays Deming's Plan-Do-Check-Act (PDCA) model with the traditional approach that focuses equally on task and behavior.³² This demonstrates how effective deployment of both mission and values can be achieved.

This link between organizational culture and effective financial performance is not a new concept.³³ Many successful organizations, such as Coca-Cola, TNT, and Johnson & Johnson (J&J), have clearly stated values in place. J&J created its ethics credo in 1943. To this day, it still influences everything the



company does and how it is done. The company's actions during the Tylenol tampering incident, for example, demonstrate the link between decision making and sustaining corporate values.³⁴ Along with the business examples, research work on behavioral economics also shows a connection between the rationality of decision making and the context or culture within which it takes place.³⁵

The financial manager also must ensure that organizational key performance indicators (KPIs) include performance relative to tangibles as well as intangibles.³⁶ For example, if the owners or senior management have no KPIs relative to relationships with key stakeholders (such as employees, suppliers, or others), they will remain unaware in situations where operational activities to reduce cost begin to impact the values of intangibles. Value might be depleted and only noticed after the event when sales revenues and customer retention decline. By then, it is too late.

Many organizations have started to recognize the challenges created by the marketplace in issuing short-term financial guidance. For many, this "setting of expectations" drives behavior centered around short-term results rather than long-term value. Several successful organizations have ceased this practice, and, in many cases, the market has not penalized the decision.³⁷ A willingness to accept this must start at the ownership and board level and should be encouraged and championed by the financial manager.

CARING ABOUT COST AND BUILDING ON THE CULTURE

Once the cultural foundation has been set in place, the second aspect is to create an attitude of caring about cost as part of the passion that underpins the organization's activities (see Table 4). Again, this must become part of the culture—the foundation of which is set at the purpose and planning stage.

Aspect	Finance's Responsibility	Finance's Influence
A. Aligned, trained, and effective leadership at all levels	\checkmark	\checkmark
B. Culture of engagement in planning	\checkmark	\checkmark
C. Inclusive organizational structure—limited hierarchy		\checkmark
D. Control systems that enable the work of the business	\checkmark	
E. Effective compensation, and reward and recognition systems		\checkmark
F. Operating procedure alignment		\checkmark
G. Performance rewards that address tasks and relationships		\checkmark

A. Aligned, trained, and effective leadership at all levels

"Living the culture" starts at the top in the same way that risk management and the attitude toward controls starts with leadership.³⁸ If members of the C-suite do not seem to worry about cost, then this attitude will become pervasive across the organization. To make this real, all senior leaders must create an underlying foundation of trust with employees and others. While ethical behavior is a key part of this, other factors that contribute to building trust include having confidence in subordinates and avoiding micromanagement, inclusion in planning, sharing in decision making wherever possible, and developing personal connections.³⁹

Those in leadership positions must buy in to the behavioral values of the organization. They ultimately will bring those values to life in the ways that they interact with others and, over time, build credibility and trust. Finance must both influence and support this concept. Financial commitments to the development of people must be a permanent part of resource allocation. Yet for many financial managers, the cost of training is the first item to be eliminated from the budget.

B. Culture of engagement in planning

Initiatives for effective cost reduction often drive organizational changes ranging from how work is done to overall accountabilities and responsibility. An effective organization is managed to operate in a state of change readiness so that change can occur on a continual basis. This willingness can only come from involving and engaging both internal and external stakeholders. Leaders create the climate for this and put the processes in place to allow it to happen.

Finance must play a key role in ensuring that, in the approach to planning, staff as well as suppliers, distributors, and other key stakeholders are engaged in the process. This happens at two levels: first, providing input on the current reality and understanding how priorities are developed and decisions are made; and second, being fully engaged in the decision-making process to determine how to convert plans into actions. Managers who "tell staff what to do" destroy any culture of trust, engagement, and



commitment. In addition, it is much easier to deny responsibility for results if the plans and actions required no commitment. Finally, finance is often caught in the trap of changing the numbers when business plans do not deliver the expected results. This disconnects ownership from resources and allows line managers to avoid accountability.

C. Inclusive organizational structure—limited hierarchy

How an organization is structured impacts people's willingness to believe in cost reduction and delivers the message that the entity is "lean and mean!" Eliminating unnecessary roles and levels of management reinforces management's message that waste will not be tolerated. Removing barriers between all levels is important so that ideas are free to flow quickly and openly. Delegation of authority should be decentralized to the maximum degree possible, and front-line employees should be empowered to make decisions that impact their work. Finance must be in alignment with this concept since the segregation of duties and other internal controls can quickly create barriers to effective actions that could have reduced costs.

D. Control systems that enable the work of the business

Finance must also take the lead in evaluating corporate risk and controls to ensure that the organization is "just in control." Excessive controls can inhibit the innovation and creativity needed to stimulate ideas that improve operational effectiveness. Excessive costs are often incurred and sometimes go unnoticed when front-line staff develops ways of getting around excessive controls. Maintenance staffs are often unfairly accused of hiding spare parts and inventories, but this is due to the requisitioning and purchasing policies that slow down the purchase of parts needed for repair of equipment-and thus negatively impacting capacity utilization and equipment uptime. Ultimately, ineffective purchasing policies drive up the overall cost of business by encouraging actions such as Just-in-Case (JIC) inventory management. In addition, the search for the lowest bidder often drives up administration costs that eat away at unit cost savings through higher process costs in areas such as purchasing, receiving, inventory management, and payables. Duplication of generic interchangeable parts can also occur when inventories are managed by vendor part number and when purchasing constantly changes vendors, resulting in higher inventory and often unplanned obsolescence.

E. Effective compensation and reward and recognition systems

Finance must be engaged and involved in the development of reward and recognition systems that are structured to ensure employees can see that the basic compensation plans are fair relative to both competition and their own performance, including the sharing of savings from cost reduction initiatives. For example, a North American global automotive parts company established fairness of compensation and profit sharing as a core component in its employee's charter.⁴⁰ It was put into place when the company was new 50 years ago. Since then, the company has grown to become a global multibillion dollar corporation and has been able to remain competitive in a fiercely cost-competitive environment.

F. Operating procedure alignment

Purchasing and accounts payable are areas where stated values are often ignored. If an organization states that it seeks to develop collaborative and cooperative relationships with its suppliers but then fails to involve suppliers in business plans, threatens the supplier, and fails to honor contractual obligations (such as 30-day payment terms), then it is not operating in good faith and is not building the basis for an effective partnership. An example of living the values is demonstrated in how Toyota partnered with its suppliers in the 2008-2010 automotive downturn.⁴¹ The company paid suppliers upfront, adjusting purchases of tooling to help suppliers' cash flow and even stockpiling parts inventories to help suppliers' cash flow problems.

G. Performance awards that address tasks and relationships

Organizations tend to get the behavior that they reward. Behavior is impacted by performance appraisals that managers and staff receive. For many years, managers have been awarded bonuses based principally on the delivery of outcomes—in other words, achieving the tasks required. Consideration of *how* the tasks achieved is often neglected. The following statement from the GE 2000 Annual Report shows how GE adjusted its bonus plans to more effectively align values and performance:⁴²

And it's about the four "types" that represent the way we evaluate and deal with our existing leaders. Type I: shares our values; makes the numbers—sky's the limit! Type II: doesn't share the values; doesn't make the numbers—gone. Type III: shares the values; misses the numbers—typically, another chance or two.

None of these three are tough calls, but Type IV is the toughest call of all: the manager who doesn't share the values, but delivers the numbers; the "go-to" manager, the hammer, who delivers the bacon but does it on the backs of people, often "kissing up and kicking down" during the process. This type is the toughest to part with because organizations always want to deliver—it's in the blood—and to let someone go who gets the job done is yet another unnatural act. But we have to remove these Type IVs because they have the power, by themselves, to destroy the open, informal, trust-based culture we need to win today and tomorrow (emphasis added).

The ability to care about anything, including cost within an organization, is a direct reflection of the engagement of employees and other partners. To have this within the organization, leaders must create a passion about what they do, both in terms of mission (the content and deliverables) as well as values (how they behave to achieve the goals). It is this day-to-day passion that reflects the culture. While this derives from an overriding set of beliefs stated by those at the owner, board, or shareholder levels, it only becomes real when practiced by line managers through their leadership skills and through what employees and other partners observe in operational activity. Creating a "culture that cares" closes



the gap between "what we say and what we do." This "culture that cares" also reflects the emerging thinking in the field of behavioral economics.

COMMUNICATION: A CRITICAL ROLE IN COST MANAGEMENT

Of all the pillars in the behavioral aspects of cost management, communication is the one that is impacted most by the effectiveness of the approach to financial management (see Table 5). There are many reasons that effective communications is one of the greatest challenges for professionals:

- Language. Part of any professional training, including finance, is learning a unique language. While this makes sense to the specialist, it can often confuse others.
- Cost architecture. Accountants often build cost collection and reporting systems around organizational structures—but this is often not the way that processes and costs are driven.
- Simplification. In the interests of simplicity, some costs that are hard to identify are spread around among departments (allocated). This may solve accounting needs but often makes little sense to users.
- Timing and presentation. In a fast-moving organization, users need information in real time and in an easily understood format. Many accounting systems do not adequately support this need.

A. Cost architecture aligned with business

Finance executives must ensure the cost management system architecture is aligned with the organization's strategy. Cost systems must mature as organizations develop. The competitive global economy and the challenges faced by not-for-profit and other government organizations require a greater degree of detailed costing information than ever before, and they need it fast to make rapid decisions.

The job of the management accountant is specifically focused on this requirement. Since the question was first posed by H. Thomas Johnson in his 1987 book Relevance Lost: The Rise and Fall

Aspect	Finance's Responsibility	Finance's Influence
A. Cost architecture aligned with business	\checkmark	
B. Clear cost drivers/process links and alignment	\checkmark	
C. Clear responsibility/accountability and no allocations	\checkmark	
D. Reports available on demand and in operational language	\checkmark	\checkmark
E. Training—finance for nonfinancial managers	\checkmark	\checkmark



of Management Accounting, there has been a continual effort to improve management accounting approaches.⁴³ There are a number of studies that looked at this issue. For example:

- Survey work in 2005 sponsored in part by IMA looked at combining GPK (German cost accounting) and ABC.⁴⁴
- IMA and the American Accounting Association worked to develop an integrated competency based framework for accounting education.⁴⁵
- FAC and others produced studies that address the maturity of costing systems to support decision making.⁴⁶

In order to support effective decision making, cost information must mirror the structure of the business in the same way that an effective enterprise resource planning (ERP) system reflects operational reality. This discussion on developing a cost collection and reporting architecture has been well researched in the IFAC publications released by the Committee of Professional Accountants in Business.⁴⁷

B. Clear cost drivers/process links and alignment

Creating a foundation of cost information that provides the right level of alignment with accountability and responsibility for processes and projects is no longer enough. Organizations need to be able to answer "what if" questions. The IFAC maturity model clearly demonstrates this need to move from the descriptive continuum to the predictive continuum as organizations develop. The framework is composed of building blocks whereby an organization cannot effectively arrive at the predictive state without the correct architecture of the underlying descriptive data. For instance, the practice of allocating overheads without linking resource consumption to levels of activity or cost objects will render projections of future cost behavior inaccurate and, at worst, misleading for decision making.

Decision makers must have a clear line of sight between the cost data that is collected, aggregated, and reported and their own personal decision making. If this is not in place, it is impossible to move to the predictive phase because the link between operational decisions and costs will not be clear. Financial managers must be able to trace the linkage between the action a manager can take and a change in cost information reflecting a variation in resource consumption. For example, most processes within an organization are interdependent, and a unilateral decision by a manager in one area can easily impact resource consumption and cost in another area.

The need for effective approaches to the tools for collecting and disseminating cost information for the descriptive stage are already well covered in IMA's SMA, *The Conceptual Framework for Managerial Costing*.⁴⁸ Ensuring the correct approach is a foundational aspect of creating a cost management system that adds value to decision making. Financial executives should also research publications in areas such as lean management, which creates significantly different demands on accounting.⁴⁹

C. Clear responsibility and accountability, and no allocations

The traditional approach of assigning costs to departmental managers and holding them accountable provides information on *who* is doing the spending and *what* is being spent (by GL code such as labor, supplies, and others). The core question it fails to answer is *why* it is being spent. Understanding and control, especially in areas of indirect labor costs is challenging for many organizations. Indirect costs are typically the larger proportion of total cost and are impacted significantly by cross-functional decisions.

This is why tools such as ABC are critical: They illustrate and explain the drivers of cost (the *why*) across boundaries or silos. For effective analytics linked to decision making, indirect costs must be understood in the context of processes and drivers. This is the level at which they are controlled. Once understood in this context, these indirect costs can be attributed to products, services, channels, and other cost objects rather than allocated on some rational basis in order to arrive at the full cost of products, services, channels, and other object. But even ABC as a tool will fail without cross-functional collaboration.

D. Reports available on demand and in operational language

All of these can be considered the mechanics of an effective approach to cost information and must be in place as a foundation for effective communication of cost information that managers can own and link to their decision making. The behavioral aspects of cost management start with an understanding and a "buy-in" to the applicability and relevance of presented cost information. Financial managers must recognize that while the architecture may be right, the information must also be communicated in language that aligns with operational terms rather than finance or accounting "speak." The involvement of operational staff in developing names and terminologies for accounting cost "buckets" (GL, product, service, cost center coding, etc.) will provide a strong foundation. Information must also be available on demand and have the potential to be grouped and structured by the users to meet their needs.

A basic question for accountants should be, "Why do you perform a monthly accounting closing?" There will be many reasons. But if accounting is able to adapt to the progress made in ERP and material requirements planning (MRP) systems, which typically offer real-time operational information that is aligned to day-to-day business activities, then shouldn't accounting information also be available in real time? This type of "on-demand" availability of financial information should be the goal.

E. Training-finance for nonfinancial managers

Not many managers like to admit that they do not understand information presented to them, and many think they have a basic knowledge of accounting because they took a Principles of Accountancy class in college. Unfortunately, this is inadequate in the competitive environment that managers face today. The senior financial manager must play an active role in educating and training line managers to understand financial information, including the linkage between cost and their own areas of decision making. While workshops, programs, and courses are available, they are typically generic. Effective understanding does have a generic component, but most managers need to understand financial information—especially the approaches to cost information—in the context of their own business.

Ultimately, costs are controlled by operational line managers and operational decisions. From a behavioral perspective, line managers must be able to align cost information with what they manage, understand the information, and have it available as required, preferably in real time.

COLLABORATION: MANAGE AND REDUCE COSTS TOGETHER

Historically, many direct costs have been managed by a collaborative approach between product designers, production, process, industrial engineers, and others, but indirect costs were the responsibility of the manager whose budget the costs resided in. Our conversation about the growing interdependence of indirect costs across organizational departments or silos and with third parties has demonstrated that individual managers are more interdependent and that one department's costs may in fact be impacted significantly by operational decisions made outside that department or the organization. The growth in subcontracting of both direct and indirect operational activities has also created an increased level of interdependence between buyers and sellers. As discussed earlier, organizations that have developed effective internal and external relationships have created value—an intangible asset—and possibly a competitive advantage. A key aspect of these relationships is the ability to effectively collaborate on opportunities to reduce cost (see Table 6).

A. Provision of process-based cost information

Alignment between the presentation of financial information and what is managed in an organization is a critical foundation for effective cost control. Process approaches are not new—direct costing, for example, used a process flow concept for the development of standards and tracking of costs. In the same way that production managed the conversion process from input to output through collaboration with purchasing, material management, and other support areas, indirect processes are also interdependent.

Much of the work in quality management focuses on resolving issues that occur between parts of the process as well as within each component. While ABC and similar cross-functional concepts that address this need, such as the cost of poor quality (COPQ), have been around for more than 30 years, they have not been broadly adopted and are still needed to align the cost opportunities of interdependent processes.

Aspect	Finance's Responsibility	Finance's Influence
A. Provision of process-based cost information	\checkmark	
B. Development of cross-functional teams/process teams		\checkmark
C. Benefit sharing across departments	\checkmark	\checkmark
D. Benefit sharing with suppliers and subcontractors		\checkmark
E. Benefit sharing with distributors and clients		\checkmark

Table 6. Aspects to Improve Collaboration on Cost Reduction



IANAGEMENT

A simple test that a financial manager can make is to ask people in the organization, "Do you think we waste time and resources here because processes do not work correctly?" That can be followed up with, "And what do you think it costs?" If the answer is, "Yes, we probably waste a lot," or, "I have no idea what it costs," then clearly the cost management system is not providing the information needed to focus decision making on areas where improvements could be made. Recent estimates from experts in Six Sigma place the cost opportunity from poor processes at between 5% and 20% of revenues.⁵⁰

With the balanced scorecard, Robert Kaplan and David Norton demonstrated the need for performance measures in four dimensions: operational process, customer, learning and growth, and financial. Yet many organizations still have not aligned costs with processes. This negatively impacts the ability to benchmark process performance with others to assess the cost per transaction. Many organizations still assess "make or buy" decisions based on costs that include allocations, and they are surprised when overall financial performance fails to improve by the levels anticipated. Ensuring that process-based financial reporting is consistent with work process is a *core aspect* of building an effective approach to cost control.

B. Development of cross-functional teams/process teams

Based on the interdependence and cross-functional nature of process management, people inside the organization as well as third parties such as suppliers, distributors, regulators, key customers, and other stakeholders need to be able to work together to develop opportunities for reducing costs. People don't work together naturally. Relationships need time to develop, and this requires investment. Financial managers need to ensure that funding is available to invest in team development activities. There are typically three stages involved:

- Developing an understanding of the barriers to effective communications often caused by interaction between different personalities. These differences often get in the way of collaboration and cooperation. Applying basic development tools such as Myers-Briggs or more definitive tools such as Insights and Lumina Learning can play a key role.
- 2. **Education and training in team skills.** This provides an understanding of the dynamics created when different people are brought together to work on common problems and opportunities.
- 3. Education and training on the use of analytical and problem-solving tools. To effectively address cost-improvement opportunities, it will be important to gather and analyze existing data as well as to collect new data. With this data, teams will be able to analyze opportunities and work on reducing costs.

There are two key points here: (1) funding and time must be available and will need to be built into budget baselines as a permanent part of orientation training and ongoing development and (2) both education and training are needed—education to understand the "why," and training to understand the "how."

This commitment to training and development is essential to creating a culture that constantly focuses on improvement. The financial manager must ensure budgeted resources are available and that the training takes place. It is important to apply key metrics that track the training as well as the involvement and outcomes. Tracking the number of teams an organization has and how often they meet is interesting, but it conveys nothing about effectiveness and outcomes. A key success factor for financial managers linked to this aspect is spending time in operations with individual managers, getting to know their activities, and working with them on financial aspects.

C. Benefit sharing across departments

Financial managers must influence the organizational understanding of interdependence, and part of achieving this is by placing more emphasis on the organization as an integrated system rather than on departmental budgets. If financial managers are constantly focusing on departmental budget performance, they will reinforce the silos and reduce the willingness to trade off benefits between departments. This is often a problem in public-sector organizations and in organizations that use job-rating models, where the seniority of managers has a strong correlation to budget size. This results in managers being unwilling to give up costs to others for the overall benefit of the organization. Finally, financial managers need to ensure that manager compensation is weighted to include overall performance rather than individual budgets.

D. Benefit sharing with suppliers and subcontractors

With the high level of outsourcing and supply chain management, many cost reduction opportunities will come from working with suppliers on the input supply chain side as well as with distributors and clients on the output side. Significant cost reduction from these partnerships has been achieved by moving to electronic data interchange (EDI) and eliminating paper. This reduces administrative cost and working capital through implementing JIT demand and production planning. These mutually shared benefits will only come from successful collaboration.

Financial managers in large organizations that have strong leverage (e.g., purchasing power or market power) have to make sure that they still work with their partners to build relationships even when making these requirements a demand. The "Do it, or we take the business away" approach works, but it likely will alienate suppliers and others and negatively impact the relationships. Being willing to share benefits by developing win/win relationships is a core aspect of working with external partners and one where the financial manager *must* have a high degree of visibility and involvement. A survey estimated that Ford, General Motors, FCA US (formerly Chrysler Group LLC), and Nissan would have collectively improved profitability by more than \$2 billion in 2014 if supplier relationships had been better.⁵¹

E. Benefit sharing with distributors and clients

Many organizations deal with the end users: clients or customers through third parties such as distributors or agents. In other cases, such as when franchising the whole delivery aspect of an organization, products or services are contracted out. This again can have a significant impact on both the success of the franchisors as well as on the franchisees' capacity to reduce costs. In fact, there are examples where relationships between



the two have been very negatively impacted when one party attempts to force changes between the parties in order to generate one-sided gains. Examples include the friction between McDonald's and its franchisees in issues such as new product introduction or the company's turnaround plan.⁵² While the imperative to save cost remains, each partner in any effective supply chain must build a basis for collaboration and trust that recognizes that mutually shared problems must have mutually shared solutions.

CONTINUITY: ENSURING COST MANAGEMENT IS A WAY OF LIFE

Organizations must ensure that the focus on effective cost management never becomes a secondary area of interest or reduced to a concern only with large savings (see Table 7). Every area should always be open to improvement. There is often a temptation in good financial times to back off from the focus on cost, but this must not happen. Cost cannot be seen as important only some of the time.

A. Understand and reinforce life-cycle thinking

To sustain a continual focus on cost management, financial managers must encourage thinking about it from a life-cycle perspective. For example, BCG Portfolio Planning Model discussed earlier identified the four stages of product (or service) life: the star, the question marks, dogs, and cash cows. This can be overlaid on the introduction, growth, maturity, and decline stages of products and services, serving as a basis to align cost strategies. This model creates a great foundation for this type of structured thinking.

From a cost perspective, organizations need to spend and invest in their early stages (introduction and growth) to create market share. As this happens, however, competition is developing and starting to drive down margins. Unfortunately, organizations often wait until the product maturity stage, when they see margins eroding, to respond with cost reduction programs. Progressive organizations start cost reduction thinking right at the beginning, well in advance of pressure on margins, so that they are prepared. These organizations constantly reassign resources out of growing and maturing products to new and evolving ones, thus following the BCG model and creating the cash cow as a feeder for investment elsewhere.

B. Avoid cost reduction initiatives as only "programs"

There must be a continuity of purpose around continual improvements, which in many cases needs to be a value or principle embedded in the organizational culture. Initiatives such as Kaizen teams for cost

Aspect	Finance's Responsibility	Finance's
A. Understand and reinforce life-cycle thinking	\checkmark	\checkmark
B. Avoid cost reduction initiatives as only "programs"	\checkmark	\checkmark
C. Constantly communicate "business reality"		\checkmark
D. Identify, track, and communicate and share savings	1	

improvement are a valuable concept, but they must be applied continuously along with the ongoing focus on cost improvement everywhere across an organization.

Kaizen alone is not enough! When the Deming talked about his 14 principles, one of which was shunning "programs and exhortations," this is what he was focusing on: the need to develop constancy of purpose. In the cost management context, Deming's principle illustrates that cost reduction is not something to be turned on and off depending on how well things are going for the business. The effective financial manager should be very cautious about creating a culture where people believe that if business is doing well and there is no cost reduction program, then spending can go ahead. (And the solution is not budgetary compliance.)

C. Constantly communicate "business reality"

Financial managers must be the "evangelists of reality" in communicating the reality of the business challenges that the organization faces. Employees in many organizations are often not well informed about the overall state of competition within their sector or industry. As a result, they often blame management for efforts to reduce costs rather than recognizing the need in order to stay in business. Regularly reporting back to employees about both the results of the organization's financial performance as well as that of the competition is a facet of effective financial management.

Some organizations implement concepts such as "open book management," which involves the broad and open sharing of financial information with employees at all levels.⁵³ This approach provides employees with a context for the challenges the organization is facing, helping them understand why change and cost reduction may be a reality and necessary—and dispelling the notion that the cost cutting is just management's desire to improve their bonuses. Sustaining education on the reality of business will provide context and help build an organizational culture that is ready for change.

D. Identify, track, communicate, and share cost savings

The financial manager needs to build constant communication to sustain a culture of cost awareness and to ensure that communications of cost savings take place and are celebrated on a regular basis. Many organizations implement suggestions as a way of encouraging cost savings ideas, yet these efforts often fail because employees become demoralized by the slowness of the process and the lack of feedback.

Cultures that encourage cost-saving ideas typically include a rapid response approach where ideas are reviewed within a short time frame. There is typically an ongoing communication of how the idea is progressing and what results have been achieved. Creative communications by the financial manager can include presenting this information in a way that provides impact. An example of this would be an individual who suggests a cost savings that results in \$10,000 per year. This could be communicated as just that: a \$10,000 saving or, if the organization generates a 5% return on revenues, it could be expressed as creating the equivalent of \$200,000 more revenue. Which form of communication do you think provides a greater marketing impact?

Conclusion

The ability to reduce cost is a core requirement for most organizations, whether public or private, for-profit or not-for-profit. Competition is tough, and resources are constrained. How is it that some organizations seem to succeed in constantly addressing the need to lower costs while others seem to implement short-term and temporary programs to seek out and eliminate cost? The answer is that successful cost reduction is not a program but an underlying culture. People within an organization must *want to reduce cost*. They must be constantly seeking out, recommending, and implementing approaches that drive down the cost of everything and anything the organization does.

Cost improvement and cost control are increasingly driven by the innovation and creativity of individuals at the front lines. Employees in organizations that have embraced a lean management approach are empowered to take responsibility for management and control of work processes that drive resource consumption and thus cost. With significant outsourcing of materials and services, the role of suppliers and contractors in contributing to cost reduction has also grown as an operational imperative. Approaches such as Kaizen are often implemented to constantly address opportunities for cost improvement internally and externally.

At the end of the day, it is people who control costs, not accounting reports or systems. Frustrated entrepreneurs often struggle with cost management as their organizations grow because employees do not treat expense control like they were handling their own money. What is needed is an integrated approach for balancing the task of cost reduction while sustaining the important relationships that make the system work.





STRATEGIC COST MANAGEMENT

> The foundation of an integrated approach comes from the culture, which is developed by creating an environment where people actually care about cost. To make this happen, there must be good, relevant cost information and communication. To actually make decisions that take cost out of the system requires support and collaboration. Finally, cost improvement should not be a program that is turned on and off when needed. It must be part of a culture of continual improvement in everything the organization does.

> The ability to have people think this way can only be achieved by developing a sustainable culture that makes cost management a way of life. It is most important to think in terms of the effective use of limited resources than to just focus on control. Once people take personal responsibility and accountability, cost management will become much more than just a program.

Only through a constant focus on cost savings and improvement can an organization reinforce a culture of effective cost management. Knee-jerk reactions to cost management are often a result of not effectively managing an organization's cost portfolio. This, in itself, is often a problem because costs are aggregated at a level that is too broad, without the recognition of cost drivers. Costs are therefore not effectively linked to products, services, channels, customers, key drivers, and life cycles. Most importantly, resource consumption and costs are not linked to the day-to-day decisions made by managers and employees.

Successful and constant cost reduction requires financial managers to make effective decisions. They need to be thoughtful in their approaches to collecting data to calculate and report cost information so that the managers and employees responsible for managing resources that drive the levels of cost can understand the impact of their decisions. They must pay an equal amount of attention to the culture of the organization that provides the context within which everyone at every level becomes committed to the constant approach to cost reduction. Unless people's actions support the desire to reduce cost, the best systems and approaches in the world will become suboptimal.

Changing an organization's culture so that approaches to cost management are institutionalized is very hard to achieve. Having a model like the one that is outlined in this SMA creates the framework to balance "task" and "relationship." Yet finance managers might wish to develop the concepts further and investigate a four-stage process to approach improved cost management using what has been discussed in this SMA as a model.

A depiction of the further steps in effective cost management is shown in the exhibit at the end of this SMA. This exhibit is based on the concept of the 5C's but uses more of a "building blocks" approach to implementation. Cultural changes may take some time to implement and can continue through several years. But, typically, cultures can shift in three to five years of sustained effort, and there are steps that can be taken in parallel. For example, organizations can start engaging with employees by implementing the core aspects of COPQ. This approach will start to get managers aware of the opportunities that are available and will create a focal point of collaboration at the team level on individual process problems.

Appendix: A Step-by-Step Approach to Implementing Cost Management

Creating an effective behavior-based approach to cost management can take time. Some financial managers may wish to approach the implementation of these ideas on a step-by-step basis. The four-stage model in Figure A1 is helpful in thinking through an implementation approach.

First, financial executives would start in Quadrant 1 by implementing the balanced task and relationship model as discussed in this SMA. This would involve creating the underlying strategic culture for effective cost management even though some of the tools and processes may not be in place yet.

Second, quadrant 2 depicts implementation of COPQ concepts as developed by the American Society for Quality. This approach would achieve two goals: to identify opportunities for cost improvement and to start engaging employees in collaboration across departmental boundaries by using a process focus.

Third, quadrant 3 depicts moving to a costing framework that understands and aligns the architecture to the cost drivers of the organization. This would require significant operational involvement of the financial manager in working with line managers to align cost collection, retention, and reporting with operational decision making. This might also involve systems changes and improvements.





Finally, Quadrant 4 depicts moving the organization's reporting of cost completely away from allocations and might include shifting to a product lifecycle management (PLM) approach where all costs are tracked back to individual earnings statements that align income to (full) expenditure. The application of ABM and GPK concepts can help address this. At this stage, financial information should align with decision making around products and services and reflect an understanding of the source of real profitability.

Continual improvement would then come from the constant enhancement of the cost management framework and improvements and changes based on what is learned when applying the information produced by the new system.

Glossary

Many organizations have been referenced in the text. Readers should find this glossary helpful in their own research and development of ideas. Cost management and reduction is a global issue, and there are many organizations doing research, both individually and collaboratively, to improve approaches used by accountants.

ACCA: The Association of Chartered Certified Accountants is a UK-based global body for professional accountants. ACCA offers business-relevant, first-choice qualifications to people of application, ability, and ambition around the world who seek a rewarding career in accountancy, finance, and management. ACCA supports 178,000 members and 455,000 students in 180 countries, helping them to develop the skills needed for successful careers in accounting and business.

Balanced Scorecard (BSC): The balanced scorecard is a strategy performance management tool—a semi-standard structured report supported by design methods and automation tools that can be used by managers to keep track of the execution of activities by the staff within their control and to monitor the consequences arising from these actions.

Baldrige Award: The Baldrige Program is the U.S. public-private partnership managed by the National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST), dedicated to performance excellence. The Baldrige Program raises awareness about the importance of performance excellence in driving the U.S. and global economy, provides organizational assessment tools and criteria. The Baldrige Program also educates leaders in businesses, schools, health care organizations, government, and not-for-profit agencies about the practices of best-in-class organizations. The program recognizes national role models and honors them with the Presidential Award for Performance Excellence.

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA): Located in London, U.K., CIPFA is the professional body for people in public finance. Its 14,000 members work throughout the public services, in national audit agencies, in major accountancy firms, and in other bodies where public money needs to be effectively and efficiently managed. As the world's only professional accountancy body to specialize in public services, CIPFA stands up for sound public financial management and good governance around the world.

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO): COSO's mission is to provide thought leadership through the development of comprehensive frameworks and guidance on enterprise risk management, internal control, and fraud deterrence designed to improve organizational performance and governance and to reduce the extent of fraud in organizations. COSO partners are AAA (American Accounting Association), AICPA (American Institute of Certified Public Accountants), FEI (Financial Executives Institute), IIA (Institute of Internal Auditors), and IMA.

Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC): ESRC is the U.K.'s largest organization for funding research on economic and social issues. It supports independent high-quality research that has an impact on business, the public sector, and the third sector.

Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia (ICAA): ICAA is the professional body representing chartered accountants in Australia. Its reach extends to more than 67,000 of today's and tomorrow's business leaders, representing more than 55,000 Chartered Accountants and 12,000 students.

International Federation of Accountants (IFAC): IFAC is the global organization for the accountancy profession dedicated to serving the public interest by strengthening the profession and contributing to the development of strong international economies. IFAC comprises more than 175 members and associates in 130 countries and jurisdictions, representing approximately 2.84 million accountants in public practice, education, government service, industry, and commerce.

IFAC's Professional Accountants in Business (PAIB): PAIB is a working committee of IFAC. Members in industry are diverse, and they work in commerce, industry, financial services, education, and the public and not-for-profit sectors as employees or advisors. Many are in a position of strategic or functional leadership or otherwise well placed to collaborate with colleagues in other disciplines to help drive their organizations' sustainable success.

National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST): NIST was known as the National Bureau of Standards (NBS) from 1901 to 1988. It is a measurement standards laboratory, also known as a National Metrological Institute (NMI), which is a nonregulatory agency of the United States Department of Commerce.

New Zealand Institute of Chartered Accountants (NZICA): NZICA is the membership body of choice for more than 33,000 accounting and business professionals working in New Zealand and across the globe.

Sarbanes–Oxley Act of 2002 (SOX): Known as the Public Company Accounting Reform and Investor Protection Act (in the Senate) and Corporate and Auditing Accountability and Responsibility Act (in the House of Representatives), and more commonly called as Sarbanes–Oxley, SOX, is a U.S. federal law that set new or expanded requirements for all U.S. public company boards, management, and public accounting firms.

Taylorism: Research and work attributed to the industrial engineer and proponent of scientific management Frederick Taylor (1856–1915). Taylor laid the groundwork for the development of works standards that led to standard costing.



Endnotes

¹ International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) and Professional Accountants in Business (PAIB), "Evaluating the Costing Journey: A Costing Levels Continuum Maturity Framework 2.0," 2012, www.ifac. org/publications-resources/evaluating-costing-journey-costing-levels-continuum-maturity-framework-20.

² Statement on Management Accounting (SMA), Values and Ethics: From Inception to Practice, Institute of Management Accountants (IMA®), 2008, www.imanet.org/resources-publications/thought-leadershipnew/new-business-leadership-ethics/value-ethics.

³ H. Thomas Johnson and Robert S. Kaplan, *Relevance Lost: The Rise and Fall of Management* Accounting, Harvard Business School Press, Boston, Mass., 1986.

⁴ IFAC and PAIB, "Evaluating and Improving Costing in Organizations," 2009; and IFAC and PAIB, "Evaluating the Costing Journey: A Costing Levels Continuum Maturity Framework 2.0," 2012.

⁵ For example, see the Baldrige Awards goal of "...identify and recognize role-model businesses."

⁶ Nick Shepherd, *Models for Excellence*, 2001 (unpublished).

⁷ For further examples, see *Fortune*, "100 Best Companies to Work For," 2014, http://fortune.com/bestcompanies.

⁸ N. Heapart and P. Smyth, *Reflective Leaders and High-Performance Organizations*, iUniverse, 2012.

⁹ Jeffrey Liker, The Toyota Way, McGraw-Hill, 2004; and Jeffrey Liker and Timothy N. Ogden, Toyota Culture, McGraw-Hill, 2008.

¹⁰ Noah Smith, "Finance Has Caught On to Behavioral Economics," *Bloomberg View*, June 9, 2015, www.bloombergview.com/articles/2015-06-09/finance-has-caught-on-to-behavioral-economics.

¹¹ Paul Moxey and Pauline Schu, "Culture and channelling corporate behaviour," Association of Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA) and the Economic and Social Research Council (ESRC), 2014, www.accaglobal.com/content/dam/acca/global/PDF-technical/corporate-governance/tech-tp-caccb.pdf.

¹² Statement on Management Accounting (SMA), The Conceptual Framework for Managerial Costing, IMA, 2014.

¹³ See Values and Ethics: From Inception to Practice, IMA, 2008.

¹⁴ Oliver Wyman, "The Ownership Culture: Expanding cost management from an event to a mindset," 2008, www.oliverwyman.com/content/dam/oliver-wyman/global/en/files/archive/2008/OWD The Ownership_Culture_WP_1210.pdf; Chartered Accountants – Australia and New Zealand, "Creating a Cost Conscious Culture," 2012, www.charteredaccountants.com.au; Mozey and Schu, 2014; and Jon Katzenbach, A Perspective on Organizational Culture, PWC and The Katzenbach Center (originally published in 2011 by Booz & Company), May 2014, www.strategyand.pwc.com/media/file/Strategyand-Perspective-on-Organizational-Culture.pdf.

¹⁵ The Conceptual Framework for Managerial Costing, IMA, September 2014.

¹⁶ NetMBA, "The BCG Growth-Share Matrix," www.netmba.com/strategy/matrix/bcg.

¹⁷ Gary Cokins, "Measuring and Managing Customer Profitability," *Strategic Finance*, February 2015, www.imanet.org/docs/default-source/sf/2015_02/02_2015_cokins.pdf?sfvrsn=2.



¹⁸ Harvard Business Review Press on Collaborating Across Silos, Ideas with Impact series, Harvard Business School Publishing, 2009.

¹⁹ Statement on Management Accountants (SMA), Unrecognized Intangible Assets: Identification, Management, and Reporting, IMA, 2010.

²⁰ *Ibid*.

²¹ Paul B. Carroll and Chunka Mui, *Billion Dollar Lessons*, Portfolio/Penguin Group, 2008.

²² Eliyahu Goldratt, *The Goal*, North River Press, 1984.

²³ See Johnson & Johnson, "Our Management Approach," www.jnj.com/about-jnj/management-approach.

²⁴ Steven M.R. Covey, *Managing at the Speed of Trust*, Free Press, 2006.

²⁵ The Conceptual Framework for Managerial Costing, IMA, September 2014.

²⁶ Strategy&, "Stop Blaming Your Culture," www.strategyand.pwc.com/uk/home/what_we_think/uk_ campaigns_events/display/uk_campaigns_stop_blaming_your_culture.

²⁷ M. Hefferman, *Beyond Measure: The Big Impact of Small Changes*, M. TED Books/Simon & Schuster, 2015.

²⁸ See Values and Ethics: From Inception to Practice, IMA, 2008.

²⁹ Heapart and Smyth, 2012.

³⁰ W. Edwards Deming Institute, "The Fourteen Points for Management," 2016, https://deming.org/ theman/theories/fourteenpoints.

³¹ See Peter Senge, *The Fifth Discipline*, Crown Business, 2006 (focusing on the importance of "Mental Models"), as well as the work of Jim Collins.

³² See American Society for Quality (ASQ), "Plan-Do-Check-Act (PDCA) Cycle," 2004, http://asq.org/ learn-about-quality/project-planning-tools/overview/pdca-cycle.html for an explanation of PDCA using project management.

³³ John Kotter, Corporate Culture and Performance, Free Press, 1992.

³⁴ Johnson & Johnson, "Our Management Approach," www.jnj.com/about-jnj/management-approach.

³⁵ A. Samson (Ed.), "The Behavioral Economics Guide 2015," 2015.

³⁶ Most of this thinking aligns with the balanced scorecard and similar approaches of broad-based reporting models.

³⁷ Peggy Hsieh, Timothy Koller, and S.R. Rajan, "The misguided practice of earnings guidance," *McKinsey on Finance—Perspectives on Corporate Finance and Strategy*, Number 19, Spring 2006, www.mckinsey.com/insights/corporate_finance/the_misguided_practice_of_earnings_guidance.

³⁸ See the SOX assessment using the COSO model (which starts with leadership) in Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO), *Internal Control—Integrated Framework*, 2013, www.coso.org/documents/990025p_executive_summary_final_may20_e.pdf.



³⁹ For some examples, see Carolyn O'Hara, "Proven Ways to Earn Your Employees' Trust," Harvard Business School, June 27, 2014, https://hbr.org/2014/06/proven-ways-to-earn-your-employees-trust.

⁴⁰ Magna, "Employee's Charter," 2016, www.magna.com/for-employees/employee's-charter.

⁴¹ Jeffrey K. Liker and Timothy N. Ogden, *Toyota Under Fire: Lessons for Turning Crisis into Opportunity*, McGraw-Hill, 2011, pp. 55-59.

⁴² General Electric, "GE Annual Report 2000," 2000, p. 5, www.ge.com/annual00/download/images/ GEannual00.pdf.

⁴³ Johnson and Kaplan, *Relevance Lost*, 1986.

⁴⁴ Paul A. Sharman and Kurt Vikas, "Lessons from German Cost Accounting," *Strategic Finance*, December 2004, pp. 28-35, www.imanet.org/docs/default-source/sf/1204sharman-pdf.pdf?sfvrsn=0.

⁴⁵ Raef A. Lawson, Edward J. Blocher, Peter C. Brewer, Gary Cokins, James E. Sorensen, David E. Stout, Gary L. Sundem, Susan K. Wolcott, and Marc J. F. Wouters, "Focusing Accounting Curricula on Students' Long-Run Careers: Recommendations for an Integrated Competency-Based Framework for Accounting Education," American Accounting Association (AAA), May 2014, http://aaajournals.org/doi/abs/10.2308/ iace-50673; and Raef A. Lawson, Edward J. Blocher, Peter C. Brewer, Jan Taylor Morris, Kevin D. Stocks, James E. Sorensen, David E. Stout, and Marc J. F. Wouters, "Thoughts on Competency Integration in Accounting Education," August 2015, http://aaajournals.org/doi/abs/10.2308/iace-51021.

⁴⁶ IFAC and PAIB, "Evaluating the Costing Journey: A Costing Levels Continuum Maturity Framework 2.0," 2012.

⁴⁷ IFAC and PAIB, "Evaluating and Improving Costing in Organizations," 2009 and "Evaluating the Costing Journey: A Costing Levels Continuum Maturity Framework 2.0," 2012.

⁴⁸ The Conceptual Framework for Managerial Costing, IMA, 2014.

⁴⁹ Maskell and Baggaley, "Practical Lean Accounting," BMA, 2011; and G. Gregoriou and N. Finch (Eds.), *Best Practices in Management Accounting*, Palgrave Macmillan UK, 2012, pp. 33-51.

⁵⁰ See The Six Sigma Group, "Benefits of Six Sigma," 2016, www.sixsigmagroup.co.uk/new-to-six-sigma/ benefits-of-six-sigma.aspx.

⁵¹ Planning Perspectives, "15th Annual North American Tier 1 Supplier Working Relations Index[®] Study," May 2015, www.ppi1.com/services/annual-automotive-industry-study.

⁵² Bryan Gruley and Leslie Patton, "McRevolt: The Frustrating Life of the McDonald's Franchisee: Not lovin' it," *Bloomberg Business*, September 16, 2015, www.bloomberg.com/features/2015-mcdonalds-franchises.

⁵³ John Case, *Open Book Management*, Harper Business, 1996.





Additional References

Jim Collins, Good to Great, Harper Business, 2001.

Jim Collins, How the Mighty Fall: And Why Some Companies Never Give In, Collins Business Essentials, 2009.

Jim Collins and Morten T. Hansen, Great by Choice, Harper Collins, 2011.

Jim Collins and Jerry L. Porras, Built to Last, Harper Business, 2004.

Gary Cokins, "Measuring and Managing Customer Profitability," *Strategic Finance*, February 2015, pp. 23-29, http://www.imanet.org/docs/default-source/sf/2015_02/02_2015_cokins.pdf?sfvrsn=2.

Jean E. Cunningham and Orest J. Fiume, *Real Numbers: Management Accounting in a Lean Organization*, Managing Times Press, 2003.

Joel Cutcher-Gershenfeld, Dan Brooks, and Martin Mulloy, "The Decline and Resurgence of the U.S. Auto Industry," Economic Policy Institute, Briefing paper # 399, May 6, 2015, Figure F, p. 21.

Department of Defense, "Analysis – Case Study: The Johnson & Johnson Tylenol Crisis," www.ou.edu/ deptcomm/dodjcc/groups/02C2/Johnson%20&%20Johnson.htm.

Harvard Business School Publishing Corporation, Finance for Managers, Harvard Business Essentials, 2002.

International Federation of Accountants (IFAC) and Professional Accountants in Business (PAIB), "Evaluating and Improving Costing in Organizations," 2009.

Jon Katzenbach and Ashley Harshak, "Stop Blaming Your Culture," *Strategy and Business*, Booz & Company, Issue 62, Spring 2011.

Planning Perspectives, Inc., "Annual Automotive Industry Study," 2014, www.ppi1.com/services/annual-automotive-industry-study.

Gene Siciliano, Finance for Non-Financial Managers, McGraw-Hill/Briefcase Books, 2003.

Jerrold M. Solomon, Who's Counting: A Lean Accounting Business Novel, WCM Associates, 2003.

Strategy& (Formerly Booz & Company), "A Perspective on Organizational Culture," May 2014, www. strategyand.pwc.com/media/file/Strategyand-Perspective-on-Organizational-Culture.pdf.

Further Reading

These additional documents and references have been provided for those who may wish to do further investigation and research on the changing roles and responsibilities in the profession. Some may be older but where included they still contain relevant materials.

GENERAL PUBLICATIONS

Consortium of Advanced Management International (CAM-I), "Global Leadership in Cost, Process and Performance Management," July 2015.



"Global Management Accounting Principles," American Institute of Certified Public Accountants (AICPA) and the Chartered Institute of Management Accountants (CIMA), October 2014.

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA), "Counting Costs: Creating a Cost Conscious Culture," joint publication of CIPFA, the Institute of Chartered Accountants in Australia (ICCA), and Chartered Accountants - Australia and New Zealand (NZICA), February 2012.

Ernst & Young, LLP, "2003 Survey of Management Accounting," AABS Advisory Services, 2003.

Dr. Tim Franklin and Dr. Sian Watt, "The Benefits of Culture Change? ROI 10% to 336% in PBT," March 2013, www.halagenfd.com/blog/detail.rhtm/686726/the_benefits_of_culture_change_roi_10_ to.rhtm.

Institute of Management Accountants (IMA), *Tools and Techniques for Implementing Integrated Performance Management Models*, 1998.

KPMG (UK), "Standard Costing: Insights from Leading Companies," KPMG (UK) Advisory Board, February 2010.

Wayne Lewchuk and Don Wells, "Transforming Worker Representation: The Magna Model in Canada and Mexico," Research Gate and others, 2014.

Mollie Lombardi, "The Engagement/Performance Equation," Aberdeen Group, A Harte-Hanks Company, July 2011.

Kim Wagner, Andrew Taylor, Hadi Zablit, and Eugene Foo, "The Most Innovative Companies 2014," Boston Consulting Group, October 2014.

COST REDUCTION IDEAS AND STRATEGIES

Shannon Anderson and Anne Lillis, "Corporate Frugality: Theory, Measurement and Practice," Contemporary Accounting Research, December 2010, available from author via Research Gate.

Steven M. Bragg, Controller's Guide to Costing, John Wiley & Sons, 2005.

Steven M. Bragg, Cost Reduction Analysis: Tools and Strategies, John Wiley & Sons, 2010.

Gary Cokins, Activity-Based Cost Management: An Executive's Guide, John Wiley & Sons, 2001.

Norman Kobert, Cut the Fat, Not the Muscle: Cost-Improvement Strategies for Long-Term Profitability, Prentice-Hall, 1995.

Yasuhiro Monden, Cost Management in the New Manufacturing Age: Innovations in the Japanese Automotive Industry, Productivity Press, 1992.

Yasuhiro Monden, Cost Reduction Systems: Target Costing and Kaizen Costing, Productivity Press, 1995.

Sebastian Nokes, Taking Control of IT Costs: A Business Manager's Guide, Pearson Education, 2000.

Janet Prescott (Managing editor), *Cost Reduction and Control: Best Practices*, Institute of Management and Administration (IOMA), John Wiley & Sons, 2006.

Cheryl L. Russell, 2,001 Innovative Ways to Save your Company Thousands by Reducing Costs: A Complete Guide to Creative Cost Cutting and Boosting Profits, Atlantic Publishing Group, 2007.



Andrew Wileman, Driving Down Cost, Nicholas Brealey Publishing, 2010.

David W. Young, A Manager's Guide to Creative Cost Cutting, McGraw-Hill, 2003.

USEFUL WEBSITES

Bala Balachandran and Sudhakar Balachandran, Kellogg School of Management at Northwestern University, "Cost Culture through Cost Maturity Model," 2005, www.kellogg.northwestern.edu/?sc_itemid=%7BD2359A99-F807-4B6B-9AAF-0E1660AC761C%7D.

Expense Watch, Inc., "Stop Leaking Profits: Best Practices for establishing Company Spending Policies," 2014, www.expensewatch.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/04/StopLeakingProfits.pdf.

Tim Franklin and Sian Watt, "The Benefits of Culture Change? ROI 10% to 336% in PBT," March 2013, www.halagenfd.com/blog/detail.rhtm/686726/the_benefits_of_culture_change_roi_10_to.rhtm.

Mind Tools, "Building Good Work Relationships: Making Work Enjoyable and Productive," www.mindtools.com/pages/article/good-relationships.htm.

Kenneth S. Most (rev.), "Sowell, The Evolution of the Theories and Techniques of Standard Costs," Accounting Historians Journal, The University of Alabama Press, 1973, www.accountingin.com/ accounting-historians-journal/volume-1-numbers-1-4/sowell-the-evolution-of-the-theories-and-techniques-of-standard-costs.

Theodore M. Porter and Dorothy Ross, *The Cambridge History of Science: Volume 7: The Modern Social Sciences*, extract from "Scientific Mangement," cited for F.W. Taylor, https://books.google.ca /books?id=SN4MxaaliAcC&pg=PA567&lpg=PA567&dq=History+of+Standard+Costing&source=bl& ots=GMUHDOrggd&sig=8gHdQ6ME5kELaHErdwPr69zWCYE&hl=en&sa=X&ved=0CDgQ6AEwBDgKah UKEwiCuo6p77fHAhWJFZIKHfjVBuc#v=onepage&q=History%20of%20Standard%20Costing&f=false.